Washoe County Human Services Agency



Quality Parenting Standards For Foster Homes

Children's Services Division 350 South Center Street Reno, NV 89501-2103

Telephone (775) 337-4470

Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes	Table of Contents

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1 DEFINITIONS	1-1
SECTION 2 – APPLICATION TO CONTRACT	2-1
SECTION 3 – GENERAL PERSONNEL QUALIFICATIONS	3-1
SECTION 4 POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	4-1
SECTION 5 – FOSTERING RELATIONSHIPS THROUGH VISITATION	5-1
SECTION 6 – DISCIPLINE	6-1
SECTION 7 – TRANSPORTATION	7-1
SECTION 8 – COMPLAINTS ABOUT A FOSTER HOME	8-1
SECTION 9 – PLACEMENT SUPPORT SERVICES	9-1
SECTION 10 – RECORD KEEPING	10-1
SECTION 11 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION	11-1
SECTION 12 – CHILDREN WITH EXTRAORDINARY NEEDS	12-1
SECTION 13 – ISSUES NOT ADDRESSED IN THIS PUBLICATION	13-1
ADDENDUM 1 – RESPITE AND BABYSITTING POLICY	A-1

#### **SECTION 1 -- DEFINITIONS**

Agency Director means the Director of Washoe County Human Services Agency.

Agreement means the contract to provide foster or emergency shelter care.

**Comfort Call** means a phone call made by the foster parent to the birth parent shortly after a child is removed from their home to comfort the child, take the first step in establishing a positive co-parenting relationship between the foster parent and the parent(s) and discuss vital information needed to meet the child's needs. This call also provides an opportunity for the child and parent to speak with each other after removal, which can help both to feel more comfortable with the placement.

**Contractor** means any person who enters into a contract agreement with Washoe County Human Services Agency.

**Corporal punishment** means any penalty or chastisement inflicted to the body and includes but is not limited to: Spanking; slapping; hitting; shaking; causing a child to remain in one position for an extended period; burning or scalding; tying down; hot sauce on the tongue; taping the mouth; placing soap in the mouth.

**CPS** means the Child Protective Services Section of the Washoe County Human Services Agency.

**DCFS** means the Division of Child and Family Services of the State of Nevada Department of Human Resources.

**Emergency placement** means any placement made outside of Monday through Friday between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. (nights, weekends, holidays) or any placement required to be made in an emergency shelter home during normal working hours because no other appropriate foster care placement can be made. Emergency placements are made for up to 14 days. The Agency and Foster Parent has the option to utilize a different placement or maintain the placement.

**Emergency shelter home** means a licensed foster home which provides, under contract, 24 hour care on a temporary basis to children who have been placed in the custody of the Washoe County Human Services Agency.

Entity means an applicant for licensure, an applicant for a contract, or a contractor.

**FCS Unit** refers to the Foster Care Support Unit of the Washoe County Human Services Agency

**Foster home**, pursuant to NRS 424.014, means a home that receives, nurtures, supervises and ensures routine educational services and medical, dental and mental health treatment for children. The term includes a family foster home, specialized foster home, independent

# Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes Definitions

living foster home and group foster home. Foster home means any facility, which is licensed pursuant to NRS 424 and NAC 424.

**Gender identity or expression** means a gender related identity, appearance, expression or behavior of a person, regardless of the person's assigned sex at birth.

**Group home**, pursuant to NRS 424.015, means a foster home which provides full-time care and services for 7 to 15 children who are:

- 1. Under 18 years of age or who remain under the jurisdiction of a court pursuant to NRS 432B.594;
- 2. Not related within the first degree of consanguinity or affinity to any natural person maintaining or operating the home; and
- 3. Received, cared for and maintained for compensation or otherwise, including the provision of free care.

Holiday means a legal holiday as defined in NRS 236.015.

Human Services Agency or Agency means the Washoe County Human Services Agency.

**Icebreaker** refers to a facilitated, child-focused meeting held shortly after a child is placed (or the placement changes) in out-of-home care to provide an opportunity for the birth parents and foster parents to meet each other and to share information about the needs of the child. Much like a comfort call, this meeting helps to establish a positive co-parenting relationship between the child's parents and caregivers.

**Important Individual** refers to a person identified by a child who is positive and supportive. This may include relatives, fictive kin, peers, or other individuals that the child has an ongoing positive relationship. Visitation and contact with an important individual should be maintained through a Family Engagement and Visitation Plan.

**Licensing Unit** means the Child Care Licensing Unit of the Washoe County Human Services Agency.

**Normalcy** means the condition of experiencing a typical childhood through participation in activities that are age or developmentally appropriate.

**Person** means the singular and the plural and shall include individual persons, partnerships, firms, corporations, or associations.

**Person Legally Responsible (PLR)** means the person nominated by WCHSA and appointed by the court to make all decisions related to a child's psychiatric care and psychotropic medications.

**Provider** is any person who meets all Quality Parenting Standards as stated herein and who contracts with Washoe County for emergency or other foster care.

**Psychotropic medication** refers to any medication prescribed with the intent to affect or alter thought processes, mood, or behavior. This includes, but is not limited to, antipsychotic, antidepressant, anxiolytic (anti-anxiety) medication, medications to treat ADHD, and other non-psychotropic medications prescribed as part of the child's psychiatric treatment regime (i.e. sleep-aids, over the counter supplements, and blood pressure medications). The classification of a medication depends upon its stated and intended effect when prescribed, because it may have many different uses and effects. If an over-the-counter (OTC) medication (e.g. Melatonin) is needed for sleep and the child is not under the care of a psychiatrist, the foster parent treats that as a regular over the counter (OTC) medication (in accordance with the label). However, if that same child is under the care of a psychiatrist and Melatonin is needed, the medication would be considered a psychotropic medication and would need to be prescribed by the psychiatrist and consented to by the PLR.

**Reasonable and Prudent Parent Standard** means the standard characterized by careful and sensible parental decisions that maintain the health, safety, and best interests of a child while at the same time encourage the emotional and developmental growth of the child, that a caregiver shall use when determining whether to allow a child in foster care under the responsibility of the Agency to participate in extracurricular, enrichment, cultural, and social activities.

**School of Origin** means the school in which a child is enrolled at the time of placement into foster care. If a child's foster care placement changes, the school of origin would then be considered the school in which the child is enrolled at the time of the placement change.

**Surrogate Parent,** pursuant to <u>NAC 388.283</u>, means a person who is appointed by the court to be the educational decision maker for a foster child with, or suspected of having, a disability when a parent is not available or a foster parent is unwilling to serve in that role.

**Wrap around service** is a placement support service provided in conjunction with another service (such as foster care) that "wraps around" the other service thereby aiding in the delivery of the other service.

#### **Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes Application to Contract**

#### **SECTION 2 – APPLICATION TO CONTRACT**

- 2.1 Foster Home License. The foster parent(s) must hold a valid foster home license issued by the licensing authority for the County in which the home is located.
- 2.2 Contracting with the Agency. Licensed homes will be expected to enter into a contract with the Washoe County Human Services Agency. The contract liaison will reach out to the foster family once licensed to review the Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes and to sign a notarized contract.
- 2.3 Required Documents. The foster parent must provide to the contract liaison:
  - Copies of required insurance verification as outlined in the contract,
  - Birth dates for each person named on the license, and
  - Social security numbers for each person named on the license. •
- Placement and Payment. Once the contract is signed and notarized, children may be 2.4 placed in the home. No payment for foster care may be made by Washoe County until a contract is in place. No payment may be made for periods not specified in the contract.

#### SECTION 3 – GENERAL PERSONNEL QUALIFICATIONS

- 3.1 <u>Basic Qualifications.</u> Pursuant to N.A.C. 424.255 and N.A.C. 424.550, all foster parents and staff must:
  - Be competent adults with a demonstrated ability to exercise sound judgment and decision making. Their character, integrity and conduct must be above reproach, especially with regard to their role as foster caregivers.
  - Be in sufficiently good physical and mental health, and be physically and emotionally capable, to provide the necessary care to children.
  - Be willing to cooperate with the agency in establishing and carrying out agency goals for the child by:
    - a. Providing pertinent information about the child and the needs of the child that the foster parents and staff have gained by caring for the child on a daily basis; and
    - b. Assisting in meeting any identified needs of the child.
  - Possess skills necessary to provide a nurturing and caring home and family environment.
  - Welcome each foster child into the foster home as a full member of the family and treat each foster child equally to any children of the foster parent who reside in the foster home, including, without limitation, when according benefits and privileges.
  - Be kind, respectful and non-judgmental when communicating and interacting with the child and the family of the child and when discussing the family of the child with other individuals involved in the case.
  - Have knowledge and understanding of the needs of the child for well-being, safety and permanency.
  - Be flexible to best meet the needs of the child.
  - Present a positive image of fostering to the community.
  - Maintain good relationships with each member of the community who is involved with the child and the family.
  - Be professional in each action taken as a foster parent and caregiver and be a positive role model for each foster child when engaging in daily activities, making decisions, setting boundaries and modeling behaviors.
  - Communicate effectively and respectfully with each person involved in the care of a foster child and respect differences and opinions of others.
  - Accept additional feedback and participate in additional training to increase the foster parents or staff member's knowledge and ability to care for a child with unique needs.
  - When safe and appropriate, work directly with the parents or other family members of a child in support of the best interests of the child and the permanency goal of the child.
  - Possess realistic expectations regarding behaviors of children who have experienced trauma and be able to remain calm during the emotional and behavioral outbursts of a child.
  - Set appropriate verbal and physical boundaries with foster children and their families.
  - Recognize and celebrate milestones in the life of a foster child, including, without limitation, birthdays, graduations and holidays.

# Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes Personnel Qualifications

- Demonstrate sound judgement by making mindful and careful decisions.
- 3.2 <u>Law Enforcement Clearance.</u> All employees of the foster home and each adult in the household shall obtain, before commencement of employment or within three days of residence, law enforcement clearance through the local licensing authority for the county in which the foster home is located.
- 3.3 <u>Health of Contractors, Employees, and Residents.</u> All contractors, foster home employees, and residents over 18, must be in good physical and mental health. Verification may be requested of health status.

Foster parents, residents in the home ages 18 or older, and employees of the foster home must submit to a tuberculosis skin test; chest radiograph and examination; or interferon-gamma release assay blood test prior to licensure/employment and every 24 months thereafter. Verification of such testing must be provided to the agency. Exception: Former foster youth, ages 18 or older, who are participating in the Court Jurisdiction program pursuant to NRS 432B.594, are exempt from this requirement.

- 3.4 <u>Records of Employees and Substitute Staff.</u> Every foster home shall maintain a current record for each employee including part-time and substitute staff which shall include:
  - A. A completed application for employment listing:
    - Name
    - Birth date
    - Address
    - Social Security number
    - Telephone number
    - Education
    - Training
    - Work experience
    - Five personal references
    - Person(s) to notify in case of emergency.
    - Statement from the local licensing authority for the county in which the foster home is located of clearance through law enforcement and approval to work in the foster home.

#### SECTION 4 -- POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

- 4.1 <u>General Environment.</u> Pursuant to NAC 424.500, the foster home shall promote the safety, permanency and well-being of the children for whom they provide care.
- 4.2 <u>Reasonable and Prudent Parent Standard / Normalcy</u>. The foster home will provide opportunities for children to experience and participate in normal activities which include involvement in community, school, family or social activities. Such activities not only allow foster children to experience normalcy in their daily lives but provide a child opportunities to experience safe risk-taking, supported by parental guidance and nurturing. These experiences ultimately support normal development and give the youth skills needed to be healthy and productive adults.

Pursuant to NAC 424, a foster parent or designated member of the staff of a foster home, may allow a foster child to participate in extracurricular, enrichment, cultural and social activities similar to those participated in by peers of the same age, maturity and developmental level. When deciding whether to allow or deny participation in such activities, a foster parent or designated member of the staff of a foster home must be informed by all information about the activity that is available to the foster parent or staff member; and shall use the reasonable and prudent parent standard.

For more information refer to Statewide Policy <u>1011 Reasonable and Prudent Parent</u> <u>Standard / Normalcy</u> at <u>http://dcfs.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/dcfsnvgov/content/Policies/CW/1011-</u> <u>Reasonable\_and\_Prudent\_and-MTL.pdf</u>.

- 4.2 <u>Holidays and Religious Practices.</u> Pursuant to NAC 424.290, no child shall be forced to attend religious services simply because the provider does. Activities and supervision must be provided for those children not attending church services. Additionally, the religious and spiritual beliefs of a foster parent may not be imposed upon foster children or prevent foster children from attending appropriate community and religious activities.
- 4.3 <u>Records</u>. Records shall be maintained and updated pursuant to Section 10.
- 4.4 <u>Confidentiality.</u> Information pertaining to an individual child welfare case, including information concerning the child, parents, relatives, court proceedings, etc., shall not be disclosed to anyone outside of the child's/family's identified team without express permission of the assigned case worker, unless there is a medical emergency or the caregiver is reporting child abuse or neglect as required by NRS 432B.220.
- 4.5 <u>Non-discrimination</u>. The foster home shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color national origin, disability, religion, gender, gender expression, age, marital status, political affiliation, sexual orientation or any other reason in accordance with the United States Constitution, the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

- 4.6 <u>Training.</u> Foster parents are responsible for completing a minimum of four (4) hours of training per licensure year. Additionally, the following training must be completed and is not considered part of the annual training listed above:
  - <u>Normalcy, Let Kids Be Kids Training Video</u> in the Clark County specific Online Training Library on the QPI Nevada website must be done once in addition to the annual training listed above.
  - CPR certification CPR certification is mandatory for all contract providers.
  - LGBTQ Training Pursuant to Assembly Bill 99<sup>1</sup>, Foster parents and any person employed by the foster home who has direct contact with children must receive, within 90 days of licensure/employment and annually thereafter, training that has been approved by the licensing authority concerning working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children.

Additional mandatory trainings may be required of contractors throughout the year.

- 4.7 <u>Mandatory reporting of suspected child abuse or neglect.</u> Each licensee, foster parent, member of the staff of a foster home or employee of a foster care agency who, in his or her professional or occupational capacity knows or has reasonable cause to believe that a child has been abused or neglected shall report the abuse or neglect as required by NRS 432B.220. Reports of suspected child abuse or neglect may be made by calling the 785-8600.
- 4.8 <u>Partnership Agreement.</u> Upon placement of a child into the foster home the child's case worker will complete the Washoe County Partnership Plan for Children in Outof-Home Care with the foster parent. The agreement highlights the fundamental beliefs about children in foster care, the inclusion of the foster parent as a professional member of the child'/family's team, sharing of information and our commitment to always act in the child's best interests.
- 4.8 <u>New Placements and Changes in the Foster Home Household.</u> The foster home must notify the WCHSA Foster Care Licensing Case Worker within one business day of any change in the household composition, i.e. moves, employment/schedule changes, people visiting in the home, people moving in or out of the home, etc.. Notification may be by telephone, fax, e-mail, or in-person. The foster parent must ensure that any person visiting the home does not have unsupervised contact with foster children unless approved by the Agency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> AN ACT relating to children; requiring certain institutions and agencies to treat a child as having the gender with which the child identifies; requiring certain persons to receive training on working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; requiring the Division of Child and Family Services of the Department of Health and Human Services to establish protocols to follow or factors to consider before placing a child in certain placements; requiring the Division to establish a process for filing and resolving certain grievances; revising the manner in which a foster child is notified of his or her rights; requiring certain facilities to which a juvenile court commits a child to comply with certain federal law; and providing other matters properly relating thereto, A.B. 99, 79th Session. (2017).

#### 4.9 Clothing and Personal Items.

- A. Upon arrival at the foster home, each child shall be provided the minimum basic requirements for personal care including toothbrush, toothpaste, comb/brush (depending on the child's hair needs), towel, and washcloth. The toothbrush, toothpaste, and comb/brush shall be issued to the child in new condition, and shall be taken with the child upon departure.
- B. Other basic issue items shall be properly sanitized prior to reissue or issued in new condition.
- C. The foster home shall ensure each child placed has available to him or her soap and shampoo and, as appropriate to the child's age and gender, deodorant, sanitary napkins or tampons, shaving supplies, and hair spray and/or other hair products that meets the needs of the child's specific hair and skin type. The foster home shall not be expected to purchase special brands desired by a child if a required personal need item is otherwise available to the child.
- D. Each foster child must have his or her own clothing and personal possessions as well as storage space, such as a closet, locker or dresser, in his or her sleeping area. Children must not be required to share personal clothing items with other children. Clothing must be of the correct size and type, and appropriate to climatic condition, and must be kept clean and in good repair.
- E. Pursuant to N.A.C 424.480, the foster parent will ensure that a Clothing Inventory Sheet listing all of the child's clothing and personal possessions is completed within two (2) business days of the child's placement. This Clothing Inventory Sheet shall be completed again and shall accompany the child when they leave the placement. Any additional clothing or personal items must be added to the Clothing Inventory Sheet within two days of receipt. The Clothing Inventory Sheet shall be provided to the Agency if requested. The foster parent shall ensure that the child is given and allowed to take all of their clothing and personal belongings when they leave the foster home. The Clothing Inventory Sheet can be found at

http://www.qpinevada.org/washoe/pages/documents.shtml .

- F. Any gifts or purchases made for the child (either by the foster parent or others) remain the child's property. These items shall be listed on the child's inventory sheet and must accompany the child when they leave the placement.
- 4.10 <u>Safe Sleep</u>. According to the National Institutes of Health<sup>2</sup>, Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS) is the leading cause of death in infants between the ages of 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Safe to Sleep® Public Education Campaign. (n.d.). Retrieved October 11, 2017, from https://www.nichd.nih.gov/sts/Pages/default.aspx

month and 1 year. Most SIDS deaths occur when babies are between the ages of 1 month and 4 months of age. Each year, about 4,000 infants die during sleep time, from SIDS, accidental suffocation or unknown causes. Babies are at higher risk for SIDS if they:

- Sleep on their stomachs
- Sleep on soft surfaces, such as an adult mattress, couch, or chair or under soft coverings
- Sleep on or under soft or loose bedding
- Get too hot during sleep
- Are exposed to cigarette smoke in the womb or in their environment, such as at home, in the car, in the bedroom, or other areas
- Sleep in an adult bed with parents, other children, or pets; this situation is especially dangerous if:
  - The adult smokes, has recently had alcohol, or is tired.
  - The baby is covered by a blanket or quilt.
  - The baby sleeps with more than one bed-sharer.
  - The baby is younger than 11 to 14 weeks of age.

Foster parents shall ensure all children, ages birth to 12 months old, are provided a safe sleeping environment and will use safe sleep practices at bedtime and naptime.

Foster parents shall:

- A. Ensure each crib meets the standards prescribed in 16 C.F. R. Part <u>1219</u> (<u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2017-title16-vol2/pdf/CFR-2017-title16-vol2/pdf/CFR-2017-title16-vol2-part1219.pdf</u>) and <u>1220</u> (<u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2017-title16-vol2/pdf/CFR-2017-title16-vol2-part1220.pdf</u>) and be equipped with a firm crib mattress that properly fits the crib.
- B. Place the infant on his or her back to sleep. Babies must not be:
  - Allowed to sleep on a soft or semisoft surface, including but not limited to, a sofa, waterbed large pillow or bean bag and
  - Placed in a crib containing any loose item, including but not limited to, a comforter, quilt, blanket, stuffed animal, crib bumper, wedge, pillow or other loose bedding.
- C. Dress the baby in clothing appropriate to the weather when put down to sleep. During cold weather the child should be dressed in appropriate sleep clothing such as a one piece sleeper or sleep sack. However, the foster parent should take care to ensure the child does not overheat.
- D. Participate with Safe Sleep education provided by the case worker during each home visit for any child, both foster children and the foster parent's own children, in the home aged birth to 12 months. This education will include the foster parent demonstrating their understanding of safe sleep practices by explaining and demonstrating how the child is put to bed and signing a form acknowledging safe sleep practices.

- E. Ensure that foster children who are parenting a child, ages birth to 12 months, follow safe sleep practices in the foster home.
- 4.11 <u>Nutrition.</u> The foster parent will provide three healthy meals and appropriate snacks daily in the quantity and quality necessary to meet the child's dietary, nutritional and caloric needs.
  - A. Daily nutritional needs shall be provided as recommended by:
    - The American Heart Association's Dietary Recommendations for Healthy Children (<u>http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/HealthyLiving/Dietary-</u> <u>Recommendations-for-Healthy-Children\_UCM\_303886\_Article.jsp#.WV-</u> <u>oQnmWyFc</u>); or
    - The Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion's, Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2015-2020 Eighth Edition (https://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/guidelines/); or
    - The USDA's ChooseMyPlate.gov website (https://www.choosemyplate.gov/).
  - B. Sweets, foods, and beverages with little or no nutritional value may be served in moderation and in addition to the above dietary recommendations.
  - C. Consideration shall be given to the child's cultural and religious diet preferences.
  - D. The foster parent will ensure that special diets prescribed by the child's health provider are followed.
  - E. Foster children must have access to drinking water at all times, unless a written medical authorization limiting the child's consumption of water is on file.
  - F. Foster children may only be provided pasteurized milk.
  - G. Foster children must have access to healthy snacks and drinks between meals. The kitchen refrigerator must not be locked unless a written medical authorization or order of a provider of health care requiring the restriction of food to a child due to health concerns is provided to the licensing worker. A foster parent may use a child-proof latch for the safety of toddlers in the foster home or a refrigerator alarm.
  - E. Foster children must be included with the family during meals and must not be seated separately. Foster children must be provided the same quality of food that the foster parents and their family consume in the foster home.
  - F. Nutritious food alternatives must be made available to a foster child if the child possesses a known allergy to foods that are served for meals or snacks. The

foster parent shall take appropriate measures to ensure cross contamination does not occur during food preparation when a child has food allergies.

#### 4.12 Orientation to the Home.

A. Foster parents will participate with a comfort call upon initial placement of a child into their home whenever possible. A comfort call refers to a phone call facilitated by the placing case worker and foster parent to the birth parent shortly after a child is removed from their home or moved to a different placement. The purposes of the call are to comfort the child, take the first step in establishing a positive co-parenting relationship between the foster parent and parent(s) and discuss vital information needed to meet the child's needs. This call also provides an opportunity for the child and parent to speak to each other after removal or placement.

The foster parent should schedule the first visit with the parent and child during the comfort call with the parent. All first visits are to occur at the Family Engagement Center (FEC) and will be facilitated by the foster parent and an FEC staff person. The foster parent should contact the FEC the same day of the comfort call or next business day to notify them of the time/date of the first visit to ensure staff is available to facilitate an Icebreaker meeting. FEC staff will meet with the parent(s) prior to the first visit to address any issues related to their first visit, including setting realistic expectations about child behaviors and reactions during visitation and introduction to the Fostering Relationships through Visitation model.

- B. Foster parents are expected to be active participants in transition plans developed for a child entering or leaving their home. This aspect of orienting a child to your home may include day-long or overnight stays and is not a service that reimbursement will be provided for, but is considered a part of the commitment a foster parent makes to ensure the success of placement of children in their home.
- C. The foster family should endeavor to make new children feel welcome. Introductory techniques such as showing a child where he will sleep, where he will store his belongings, where the bathroom is, where his personal items are located, etc. are encouraged. Within one day of placement and as developmentally appropriate, the foster home should orient each child to house rules and practices.
- D. Efforts should be made to become aware of a child's ethnicity and culture to include clothing preferences, hair styling, family rituals, etc. to assist the child's transition into the foster home placement. The foster parent is encouraged to work with the birth family to learn more about the child's culture.

#### 4.13 <u>Contact with Case Worker.</u>

- A. A child may not be deprived of contact with his or her assigned case worker during Washoe County business hours. If a child has left a message at the Agency for the case worker to return the call, the child need not make another call to the case worker that day.
- B. In after-hours emergencies, the foster parent may contact the Agency's after hours number, 775-785-8600, which is staffed 24 hours per day to respond to emergencies.
- C. The foster home may not release the case worker's personal telephone number.
- D. Monthly Caseworker Contacts:
  - 1. Frequency: The assigned case worker must visit, in person, with the child at least monthly. Visits with the child will occur in the foster home and in the community, but may not occur in the community for more than one consecutive visit. Additional forms of contact, such as emails or text messages may occur in addition to the minimum requirements stated above.
  - 2. Quality: During child contacts the case worker must speak with each child in a private location. Additionally, the case worker is required to spend time individually with the foster parent during visits that occur in the home to assess the needs of the foster parent to ensure they are able to meet the safety, permanency and well-being needs of the children in their care. If the case worker conducts a child contact outside the placement home they should facilitate a telephone conversation with the caregiver during that same month. Visits to the home must be a combination of announced and unannounced home visits. The case worker shall conduct safe sleep education/consultation as outlined in section 4.10 Safe Sleep and conduct Psychotropic Medication Spot checks as applicable for each child.

#### 4.14 Medical Emergencies.

A. A current list of emergency numbers including health agencies and fire, police, and ambulance services must be posted in a common area of the home, pursuant to N.A.C. 424.410.

In medical emergencies requiring treatment of the foster child, foster parents must contact the Agency to obtain consent to medical treatment. Foster parents are not authorized to consent to medical treatment of foster children in Washoe County custody. Foster parents should not delay seeking medical treatment because they are trying to reach the Agency. The emergency medical personnel will contact the Agency and obtain consent for medical treatment via telephone.

- 1. To prevent being billed by the medical provider, foster parents should identify the Agency as the guarantor of medical bills for the foster child.
- 2. Foster parents who travel outside the State with a foster child must obtain written Agency authorization to consent to medical treatment, which also includes billing instructions to the medical provider.
- 4.15 <u>Changes to a child's appearance</u>. The child's case worker and the child's birth parents must be consulted before anything is done to significantly or permanently change the child's personal appearance, i.e., haircuts, change in hair color, tattooing, ear piercing, circumcision, etc. Written permission from the child's parent, when their parental rights have not been terminated, must be obtained by the case worker prior to changing a child's appearance.
- 4.16 <u>Medications.</u> The foster parent shall monitor a child who has been prescribed medications or taken over-the-counter medications for any adverse reactions and immediately seek medical attention when a child has a severe adverse reaction. The foster parent shall notify the case worker immediately when the child experiences any adverse reactions to any medication and the PLR if the child has one for psychotropic medications.

The foster parent shall keep all medications in a locked cabinet or box. Exception: Medication that must be kept with a child, such as inhalers or epi pens, are exempt from this requirement. All unused prescription medication must be destroyed in a manner that is recommended on the label of the medication or as directed by the pharmacist.

- 4.17 <u>School.</u> Pursuant to NAC 424.570, the foster parent shall ensure that each child attends school as required by law and shall provide or cooperate with persons responsible for the educational planning for each child. Each child must be afforded the opportunity to complete schooling or training in accordance with his or her aptitude.
  - A. School Stability Federal and State law requires that children shall be maintained in their school of origin, unless the Agency determines it is in the best interests of the child to move to a different school. Any school change for a child in foster care must be approved by the Agency.
    - If a child is to remain in their school of origin the foster parent may be expected to transport the child to their school of origin until transportation services can be arranged. This can take 3-7 school days.
    - If a school change has been approved by the Agency, the foster parent shall enroll the child into the school for which the foster home is zoned within one school day of placement or decision to change schools.
    - If the child was not enrolled in school at the time of placement the foster parent will consult with the assigned case worker to determine which

school the child should be enrolled and enroll the child into that school within one school day of placement.

- B. The WCHSA has a process in place to notify the school whenever a child is placed into the custody of WCHSA. However, if the school requests other documentation to verify custody, the foster parent should provide a copy of the placement letter to the school. If that document is not accepted the foster parent may obtain a copy of the court order from the child's case worker or supervisor.
- C. Parents are expected to participate in all school meetings and have decision making authority concerning their child's educational needs and services, unless their parental rights have been terminated or their whereabouts are unknown. When a parent is not available, the foster parent is expected to serve as the child's surrogate parent concerning the educational needs of the child. In some cases the court will appoint a surrogate parent, who is not the foster parent, to act as the child's educational decision maker. Whenever there is a parent or court appointed surrogate available to make educational decisions the foster parent will continue to participate in team meetings to assist in the assessment of and provision of services to meet the educational needs of children in their care.
- D. Unless otherwise instructed by the child's case worker, parents and court appointed educational surrogates should be notified by the foster parent of any school events such as parent/teacher conferences, open houses, school meetings, special programs, etc., so that they may continue to participate in their child's education.
- E. The Agency is required to conduct ongoing assessments of the educational needs of children ages 7 and older and children ages 3 or older with noted developmental concerns and to advocate for services to address those needs. The foster parent is expected to be an active member in this process by reporting any concerns they have for the child's education or development and collaborating with the case worker to obtain services to address those needs.
- F. The decision to request an evaluation for special education services (Individualized Education Plan) must be made in collaboration with the child's parents, if available, and the child's team, which includes the foster parent, case worker, child attorney, therapist, surrogate parent and other involved professionals. The foster parent should consult with the child's case worker if they believe the child has educational needs that are not being met by the school and special education services may warranted. If the child requires an Individual Education Plan (IEP), the biological parent must consent to and sign the plan that is developed. If the biological parent is not available, the foster parent or surrogate parent may consent to and sign the plan that is developed. The case worker is not authorized to consent to any special education services; however, the foster parent should notify them of any meetings to

evaluate or address a child's special education needs as the case worker is required to attend such meetings.

- G. The foster parent will notify the case worker of any communications from the school, including report cards, which relate to the child's school behavior and performance. Positive as well as negative reports should be shared. Reports should be shared during monthly child contacts made by the case worker or sooner if there are concerns that require immediate attention. Foster parents are encouraged to obtain access to Infinite Campus through the foster child's school in order to monitor the child's attendance, grades and behaviors in school.
- H. The foster parent is responsible for providing routine school supplies such as pencils, papers, binders, Kleenex, gym clothes, backpacks, lunch boxes etc. Extraordinary school needs such as class rings, yearbooks, calculators, etc. may be referred to the child's case worker.
- I. The Washoe County Human Services Agency and the Washoe County School District have an ongoing partnership to address the needs of foster children in Washoe County schools. An Educational Liaison is employed by the Washoe County Human Services Agency to assist case workers, parents and foster parents in obtaining services needed to address the needs of children in foster care.
- 4.18 <u>Case Plan and Team Meetings</u>. The foster parent and direct care staff will participate in case plan and other team meetings. The purposes of such meetings may include, but are not limited to:
  - Establish, update and carry out the child's treatment plan;
  - Establish, update and carry out the child's plan for independent living (children ages 14 and older);
  - Establish or update the family's case plan;
  - Plan for reunification with the parent; or
  - Plan to transition the child to their permanent home (e.g. independent living, placing the child for adoption/guardianship, transition to a relative, etc.).

The foster parent is to participate in meetings and staffings relating to the child's case plan. They are expected to participate in Multidisciplinary or Child Family Team meetings as active members, reporting on the child (ren) in their care.

<u>Foster parents must maintain the confidentiality of the child and family due to</u> <u>sensitive information being discussed during these meetings.</u> In addition, foster parents must let the child's case worker take the responsibility for addressing the parent's case plan compliance and remain focused on the needs of the child.

#### 4.19 <u>Court.</u>

A. Foster parents will receive notice of scheduled court hearings and copies of Agency recommendations to the court for children placed in their home.

- B. Foster parents are expected and encouraged to attend court hearings for children residing in their home and to provide updates during the hearing on the progress of the child's services, behaviors and placement whenever the Judge/Court Master requests.
- C. Children are generally expected to attend court hearings. While social research is limited in the area of child attendance at court hearings, studies conducted have shown that children who attend hearings were more likely to report they trusted the Judge to do what is best for them and they felt that the Judge had enough information to make the right decision<sup>3</sup>. Attendance of children at court hearings also provides the Judge the opportunity to observe interactions between the children, parents and foster parents, providing invaluable information about these relationships. These observations, in combination with reports by the Agency and the parent's counsel, enable the Judge to make the best decision possible for the child<sup>4</sup>.

Children may be excused from hearings in some instances, but only if it has been determined that it is in the best interest of the child not to attend and accommodations cannot be made to ensure the child's best interests while attending court. If a child in your care indicates they do not wish to attend a court hearing or if you believe it is not in the best interests of a child in your care to attend a court hearing, discuss it with the child's case worker and attorney as soon as possible.

For more information concerning children and the courts go to <a href="http://www.qpinevada.org/">http://www.qpinevada.org/</a> .

- D. Effective October 1, 2017, every foster child will be appointed an attorney to represent them in court. Children's attorneys meet with their clients on an ongoing basis and advocate for the child's wishes during court hearings. The child's attorney makes recommendations to the court when a child does not wish to attend a hearing or when the child's team does not believe attendance at the hearing would be in the child's best interests. If you do not know who your child's attorney is, please contact the assigned case worker.
- 4.20 <u>Working with children who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning</u> (<u>LGBTQ</u>). The foster parent and any person employed by the foster home who has direct contact with children shall ensure that each child placed in the home is treated in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression. Foster

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Weisz, V., Wingrove, T., Beal, S., Faith-Slacker, A. (2011). Children's participation in foster care hearings. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 35(4), 267-272.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Whitney Barnes, E., Khoury, A., Kelly, K. (2012). "Seen, Heard, and Engaged: Children in Dependency Court Hearings." *Technical Assistance Bulletin.* National Council of Juvenile and Family Court Judges, Reno, Nevada.

parents and staff of the foster home are required to complete training related to LGBTQ within 90 days of licensure/employment, and annually thereafter<sup>5</sup>.

4.21 <u>Foster Parent Use of Social Media</u>. Foster Parents may turn to social media (Facebook, Twitter, blogs, etc.) for learning opportunities, to share information with friends and family and to obtain support from other foster parents. Additionally, the use of social media can be a powerful tool to engage birth parents and families in their child's life, promoting positive connection and ultimately the goal of reunification with their child.

#### **Guidelines for Social Media Use by Foster Parents:**

- **Talk with your caseworker.** Find out whether there are specific considerations for the child in your care that could impact the safety or well-being of the child and family. It is very important to ensure that photos do not create privacy or safety risks.
- **Protect privacy and confidentiality.** Caregivers may post pictures on social media of children in their care; however, they may not post the child's last name or identify a child as a foster child. Caregivers should never discuss specific case information on social media regardless of whether they are including names in the discussion.
- Be aware of privacy settings. It is not uncommon for birth parents and family members to be curious about foster parents and to seek out information online. Foster parents should be mindful of this and changes settings as appropriate to ensure the information posted is private.
- Be aware that photos may reveal the youth's location. Most smartphones embed tags (geo tags) that can provide the exact location where a photo was taken. As appropriate, the foster parent should adjust the settings on their smartphone to remove these tags when the location of the child could impact the safety or privacy of the child or foster parent. Other photos can provide clues, such as a school or street name. Foster parents should be aware of this when posting photos on social media.
- **Think before you post.** Be sensitive to how messages may be interpreted by others, including the child, their family members and Agency staff. If you have a question about whether it is appropriate to post something, don't post it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> AN ACT relating to children; requiring certain institutions and agencies to treat a child as having the gender with which the child identifies; requiring certain persons to receive training on working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; requiring the Division of Child and Family Services of the Department of Health and Human Services to establish protocols to follow or factors to consider before placing a child in certain placements; requiring the Division to establish a process for filing and resolving certain grievances; revising the manner in which a foster child is notified of his or her rights; requiring certain facilities to which a juvenile court commits a child to comply with certain federal law; and providing other matters properly relating thereto, A.B. 99, 79<sup>th</sup> Session. (2017).

• You may be asked to remove posts/pictures. Some information shared publicly has legal ramifications for the foster child and you may be asked to remove such information from your social media site.

Additional Internet resources to assist you in the safe and appropriate use of social media include:

- <u>https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/smtips\_parent.pdf;</u>
- https://www.childwelfare.gov/topics/management/workforce/tools/socialmedia/
- http://centervideo.forest.usf.edu/qpi/socialmediafostercare/start.html
- 4.22 <u>Reporting Incidents</u>. Upon the occurrence of a serious incident, accident or injury to a child involving a foster home or a child in a foster home, the foster parent shall, after contacting necessary emergency personnel/accessing emergency care, provide notice of the event as provided in this section to the licensing worker, and any case worker assigned to the child. Additionally, the foster parent should notify the birth parent.

The foster parent shall provide verbal notice immediately and written notice as soon as practicable, but in no event later than the business day immediately following the serious incident, accident or injury, if the event involved:

- The death of a child;
- An attempted suicide by a child;
- The ingestion of a poison or a drug overdose by a child;
- A traumatic event involving a child, including, without limitation, near drowning, suffocation or shock;
- The abduction of a child;
- A child who is missing or has run away from the foster home (The foster parent must immediately notify the appropriate law enforcement agency and, if applicable, the birth parent or legal guardian of the child); or
- A discovery that a child is or has been involved in sex trafficking.

The foster parent shall provide verbal notice within 24 hours, and written notice as soon as practicable, but in no event later than 2 business days after the occurrence of the serious incident, accident or injury, if the event involved:

- Any injury or trauma to a child which requires the services of a licensed medical professional, including, without limitation, an injury or trauma which requires hospitalization or emergency medical attention;
- An error in the administration of medication to a child;
- An occurrence in the foster home of an illness or disease that presents a significant risk to the health of a child;
- Any condition or situation that causes the foster home to close and requires a child to be moved out of the foster home;
- Any physical damage to or failure of a necessary electrical, heating, cooling, smoke- or fire-detection system, or any physical damage to or failure of any plumbing on the premises of the foster home, which may affect the safety of a

child or the habitability of the foster home and which cannot be repaired within 24 hours after the damage or failure is discovered;

- A fire on the premises of the foster home which requires a response by a firefighting agency;
- A motor vehicle accident if a foster child was in the vehicle (the foster parent shall submit a copy of the accident report, if available, with the written notice);
- Any change in the foster home which affects compliance with any licensing requirement, including, without limitation, any member of the household or staff who suffers a major illness or injury or who is arrested; or
- Any other significant event that may affect the safety, health or well-being of a child or any other person in the foster home.
- 4.23 <u>Placement Disruption</u>. Before requesting the removal of a child from a foster home, the foster parent shall make every effort to preserve the placement of the child within the foster home by working in partnership with the Agency to support the well-being of the foster child (NAC 424.478). Whenever possible the case worker will make referrals for services to address any behavioral or parenting issues that may be impacting the child in their placement. See Section 9 Placement Support Services for more information.

#### SECTION 5 – FOSTERING RELATIONSHIPS THROUGH VISITATION

5.1 **Purpose and Philosophy**: Family Engagement and Visitation is essential for a child's well-being, fundamental to permanency and vital to a child maintaining family relationships and cultural connections.

**Visitation is a right, not a privilege.** The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution ensures a parent's fundamental right to have custody of their children. When a child has been removed from the parental home the parent retains the right to have visitation and in most instances has a right to receive services to facilitate reunification, including visitation. Children also have a right to visit with their parents and other important individuals. Under no circumstance will visitation be withheld solely based on the parent's non-cooperation with their case plan services or a child's behavior.

**Visitation should be embraced and encouraged.** Research has shown the most powerful motivation a parent has to make positive lifestyle change is to see their children. Consistent visitation is associated with higher rates of reunification and decreases in a child's anxiety and depression. Visitation maintains and supports the parent child relationship, which is essential for successful reunification and preventing re-entry into foster care.

**We need to nurture parents the way we want them to nurture their children.** Psychological preparation of parents for visits has been shown to predict positive visiting outcomes. When parents understand that the visit is different from their usual interactions with the child and that the child is under greater than normal stress, they are better prepared for their child's reactions and are less likely to be discouraged by any disruptive behaviors during visits. Providing realistic expectations for the visit to the parents helps to build their confidence in their ability to parent, which has already been badly shaken by the child's removal, and helps them to feel less like they are being negatively judged for the child's reactions<sup>6</sup>. Provision of enhanced visitation services, such as the Fostering Relationships through Visitation (FRTV) model or other forms of facilitated family parenting time, should be provided during the early stages of visitation, to strengthen and maintain the parent/child relationship.

When a foster parent supports family reunification through a positive relationship with birth parents/family members, which includes mentoring and supporting visitation, achievement of reunification happens more often. The Agency expects that any foster parent who accepts the responsibility of caring for a child will facilitate visits between the biological parent and/or relative and the foster child and will engage in a positive co-parenting relationship with birth families.

Research shows when the child's case worker makes efforts to engage parents in visitation and encourage parents to join in their children's activities and participate in decision making, such as attending medical/dental appointments, educational

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Holcomb, R., MSW, Ph.D. (2004). Innovative Practice in foster child visitation: A review of the literature for Family Alternatives, Inc. Retrieved November 7, 2017, from http://cascw.umn.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/FosterCareVisitationLitreview.pdf

#### **Fostering Relationships through Visitation**

meetings, therapy, and extra-curricular activities, there was an increase in the regularity of parent-child visitation<sup>7</sup>. Parents who have substance use disorders may need a longer recovery period, are more likely to have mental health problems, use visiting and other services less and have lower reunification rates<sup>8</sup>. Due to these additional issues, these parents may require more persistent encouragement to visit their children<sup>9</sup>. Support services to help parents participate in visitation and well thought out Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plans developed in collaboration with the parent and foster parents should be provided to ensure logistical barriers do not prevent visitation.

The removal of a child is a traumatic experience for both the children and the parents. Additionally, parents often have other past traumatic experiences, such as a childhood history of foster care placement, previous experience with a child protective services agency, family violence, etc.. Those traumatic experiences can influence the parent's engagement with the case worker, foster parent and other agency staff and their participation in visitation. It is imperative that the case worker's and foster parent's approach is non-judgmental and trauma informed.

Visitation should occur in the least restrictive environment as is necessary to ensure child safety. When visits are supervised, parents may feel that their interactions are being scrutinized and judged making spontaneous, self-assured interaction difficult<sup>10</sup>. Therefore, when visits must be supervised the parent should understand the reason for supervision and know what must change to decrease the level of supervision during visits.

**Children who visit frequently with parents have fewer behavioral problems and show less anxiety and depression.** When a child is exposed to stress the body's natural response is to release cortisol, otherwise known as the stress hormone, to engage the fight or flight response. Researchers have found that while initial cortisol levels increase when a child is first stressed, the levels decline to an abnormally low level if they experience stress for an extended period of time,<sup>11</sup> which is often the case for children involved in the child welfare system. These abnormal cortisol levels

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Nesmith, A. (2014). Factors Influencing the Regularity of Parental Visits with Children in Foster Care. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal, 32*(3), 219-228. doi:10.1007/s10560-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Choi, S., & Ryan, J.P. (2007). Co-occurring problems for substance abusing mothers in child welfare: Matching services to improve family reunification. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 29, 1395-1410.

Dore, M. M., & Doris, J.M. (1998) Preventing child placement in substance-abusing families: Research-informed practice. *Child Welfare*. 77(4), 407-426.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Burry, C.L., & Wright, L. (2006). Facilitation visitation for infants with prenatal substance exposure. *Child Welfare*, 85(6), 899-918.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Haight, W. L., Black, J. E., Mangelsdorf, S., Giorgio, G., Tata, L., Schoppe, S. J., & Szewczyk, M. (2002). Making visits better: The perspectives of parents, foster parents, and child welfare workers. *Child Welfare*. LXXXI, #2, Retrieved November 7, 2017, from http://centerforchildwelfare.fmhi.usf.edu/kb/trpost/Making%20Visits%20Better--The%20Perspectives%20of%20Parents,%20FP,%20and%20Case%20Workers.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Concordia University. (2011, February 10). Behavioral problems linked to cortisol levels: Study finds intervention needed as soon as behavioral problems appear. *ScienceDaily*. Retrieved March 6, 2018 from www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2011/02/110209124143.htm

have been linked to behavioral problems in children such as aggression, depression, and anxiety<sup>12</sup> and may be a contributing factor to a child's negative behaviors. In addition, when a child is removed from their home they may not understand the separation from their parents and may respond with bewilderment, sadness and grief. During visits they may cling, cry, act out or withdraw from their parents. Following a visit they may be confused, sad or angry. Some children show regressive behaviors, depression, physical symptoms or increased behavioral problems<sup>13</sup>. Due to these various factors, a child's negative behaviors following a visit may not mean the parent did something harmful during the visit.

Studies have shown that children who have frequent, regular parental contact experience significantly less externalizing behaviors and lower levels of depression<sup>14</sup>. Additionally, children who visit with their parents regularly have stronger attachments than children with less contact, which is also linked to fewer behavioral problems<sup>15</sup>. In cases where children are exhibiting problematic behaviors, increasing visits may actually reduce the child's anxiety and result in less negative behaviors<sup>16</sup>. Foster parents and relative/fictive kin caretakers can provide support to children and parents during visitation by encouraging parents to follow the child's lead using the Fostering Relationships through Visitation (FRTV) model. Research has shown that simply following a child's lead and responding to them in a nurturing manner over time strengthens the parent-child attachment<sup>17</sup>, improves the child's regulation of cortisol<sup>18</sup>, and increases the child's ability to manage their own emotions and behavior<sup>19</sup>.

All families should be welcome. Children should have contact with all persons they identify as important individuals. Supporting existing relationships and supporting new relationships with relatives can provide the child with long-term support and may even result in identifying new placement options. The child's wishes concerning contact with important individuals should be considered and an Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plan put into place. The Reasonable and Prudent Parent Standard outlined in the Normalcy Policy for Foster Parents and Normalcy Policy for

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Ruttle, P. L., Shirtcliff, E. A., Serbin, L. A., Fisher, D. B., Stack, D. M., & Schwartzman, A. E. (2011). Disentangling psychobiological mechanisms underlying internalizing and externalizing behaviors in youth: Longitudinal and concurrent associations with cortisol. *Hormones and Behavior*, *59*(1), 123-132. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.10.015
 <sup>13</sup> Smariga, M. (2007). *Visitation with infants and toddlers in foster care: What judges and attorneys need to know*. Retrieved

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Smariga, M. (2007). Visitation with infants and toddlers in foster care: What judges and attorneys need to know. Retrieved November 7, 2017, from http://www.ct.gov/ccpa/lib/ccpa/birth\_to\_three\_and\_visitation\_aba\_child\_law\_center\_doc.pdf
 <sup>14</sup> McWey, L.M.m Acock, A., & Porter, B.E. (2010). The impact of continued contact with biological parents upon the mental health of children in foster care. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 32(10), 1338-1345. Doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.05.003 Cantos, A. L., Gries, L.T., & Slis, V. (1997) Behavioral correlates of parental visiting during family foster care. *Child Welfare*, 76(2), 309-329.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> McWey, L. M., & Mullis, A. K. (2004) Improving the lives of children in foster care: The impact of supervised visitation. *Family Relations*, 53, 293-300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Hess, P. (1988). Case and context: determinants of planned visit frequency in foster family care. *Child Welfare*, 67(4), 311-326.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Bernard, K., Dozier, M., Bick, J., Lewis-Morrarty, E., Lindhiem, O., & Carlson, E. (march/april 2012). Enhancing Attachment Organization Among Maltreated Children: Results of a Randomized Clinical Trial. *Child Development, 83*(2), 623-636. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01712.x

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Bernard, K., Dozier, M., Bick, J., & Gordon, M. K. (2014). Intervening to enhance cortisol regulation among children at risk for neglect: Results of a randomized clinical trial. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(03), 829-841. doi:10.1017/s095457941400073x

Bernard, K., Hostinar, C. E., & Dozier, M. (2015). Intervention Effects on Diurnal Cortisol Rhythms of Child Protective Services–Referred Infants in Early Childhood. *JAMA Pediatrics, 169*(2), 112-119. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.2369

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Lind, T., Bernard, K., Ross, E., & Dozier, M. (2014). Intervention effects on negative affect of CPS-referred children: Results of a randomized clinical trial. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38(9), 1459-1467. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.04.004

#### Fostering Relationships through Visitation

<u>Relatives</u> should be used by caregivers to guide decisions concerning the foster child's continued contact with peers. Consideration of introduction of new household members, such as a parent's new boyfriend/girlfriend, should be guided by the wishes of the child based on their developmental level and the permanency plan.

5.2 **Fostering Relationships Through Visitation (FRTV):** FRTV is a relationship building model where the foster parent facilitates visits and other forms of contact with the birth parent to build a positive co-parenting relationship. During visits the foster parent coaches and encourages parents to follow their child's lead, encouraging playbased engagement and connection with their children and strengthening the parent-child bond. Parents are taught to understand their child's reactions during visits, making them feel less rejected, which has been shown to support ongoing consistent visitation. Foster parents and birth parents also collaborate on how to best meet the child's needs, empowering parents to stay involved and connected with their children. Foster parents are also encouraged to serve as mentors to parents, providing guidance on parenting and support throughout the reunification process.

It is the expectation that all foster parents will engage birth parents using the FRTV model to build a positive co-parenting relationship, improve visitation experiences for parents and children and to support reunification. The foster parent should facilitate visits until a positive co-parenting relationship has been established. At that point, the foster parent may only need to check in with parents during visits to provide updates on the child.

Foster parents may receive training and coaching to implement the FRTV model through the Family Engagement Center. Additional information concerning positive visitation is available at <u>http://www.qpinevada.org/</u>. The FRTV model consists of the following elements:

- A. Foster parents facilitate the initial visitation in order to build a relationship with the birth parent and to ease the child's transition in their home. The foster parent should remain in the visits to facilitate for as long as is in the best interest of the child and family.
- B. An Agency representative will be there at the beginning and end of the initial visit that the foster parent is facilitating to provide guidance and support to both the foster and birth parents, as well as, to provide initial introductions.
- C. During visitation the foster parent is expected to promote positive interactions between birth parent and child. This could be in the form of modeling healthy parenting practices, basic infant care, special dietary instructions, etc. A positive interaction between the birth parents and foster parents is critical to child development and is what is in the best interest of the child.
- 5.3 **Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation**: Each child should have an Individualized Family Engagement Plan designed in collaboration with the Child and Family Team that outlines a plan of visitation and other forms of contact with birth parents and other important individuals at a frequency and duration that will support

and improve familial bonds and meet the safety, permanency and well-being needs of the child.

- A. Comfort Call: Upon placement, whenever possible, and when a child transitions to a new placement the foster parent and placing case worker should initiate a phone call with the biological parent(s) to introduce the foster parent and allow the child to speak with the parent. The primary purpose of a comfort call is to provide comfort to the child and parents after a removal or move to a new placement. This call is also the starting point of the foster parent parent relationship, setting the stage for a positive co-parenting relationship. During the call the foster parent should allow the parent to be the expert on their child by discussing vital information needed to meet the child's needs such as:
  - 1. Medical allergies, medications, upcoming or needed appointments, immunizations, etc.;
  - 2. Behavioral past trauma, placement history, therapeutic history;
  - 3. Educational and Developmental school attended, teachers, academic performance, special services, etc.;
  - 4. Family/Fictive Kin/Peer support systems Who else can the child call for support?
  - 5. Routines extracurricular activities, schedules, bedtimes, etc.;
  - 6. Set up an Icebreaker and first in person visit; and
  - 7. Let the children speak with their parent The placing case worker should help to set guidelines with the parents for appropriate conversations.
- B. First Visit: It is important for children, parents and siblings to have contact as soon as possible after placement into foster care or relative/fictive kin care. The first visit should occur no later than 48 hours after initial placement. The lcebreaker and first visit should occur at the Family Engagement Center. At the time of initial placement into foster care, the removing caseworker will provide the birth parent and foster parent with a 'Partnership Plan for Children in Out-of-Home Care'. This document will specify the day and time of the first visit with additional information for all parties should that day and time need to be altered. An initial visitation schedule will be coordinated with the foster parent and birth parents by the case worker or Family Engagement Center staff member during the first visit. When there is a placement change and siblings are not placed together a visit should occur within 48 hours of placement change.
- B. Safety During Visits The foster parent must immediately report to the case worker any behaviors by the parents that threaten the safety of the child during visitation. Safety refers to the physical and emotional safety of a child. If there are danger threats that are not effectively managed with the current Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plan, the case worker must take immediate action to review and update the Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plan to ensure the safety of the child during visitation.
- C. Written Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plan: An initial Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plan should be developed in

#### **Fostering Relationships through Visitation**

collaboration with the Child and Family Team within 30 days from the date of the child's removal. The case worker should discuss visitation with the foster parent and child during monthly child and foster parent contacts. Substantial changes made to the plan should be updated on the Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plan on an ongoing basis. A formal review of the Plan, with completion of a new Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plan form, should be conducted by the case worker at least every 90 days.

D. Frequency and Duration of Visits: Family visits will occur as often as the case plan warrants and is based on the needs of the child first and foremost. The frequency of court ordered visits may not be altered. The foster parent and Agency will collaborate to ensure the child is made available for visitation as frequently as the court has ordered.

The foster parent is required to transport to and facilitate, at a minimum, two family visits a week per foster child; though more may be required depending on the needs of the family and the best interest of the child. Additionally, foster parents may also be requested to facilitate visitation and provide transportation to visits at least two weekends per month based on the needs of the child and family and the availability of the foster parents.

The Child and Family Team should determine the appropriate frequency and duration of visits that best meets the individual needs of the child and that supports the permanency plan, including progression to an in-home plan or transitioning towards adoption. Some factors that are considered include, but are not limited to:

- The child's age and developmental level Generally, younger children may require more frequent in-person visitation with a shorter duration to maintain the parent – child bond while older children may require less frequent inperson visits with a longer duration with other forms of contact occurring daily.
- 2. The child's wishes What is the child asking for in terms of visitation and what does this request mean? Whenever it is safe and in the child's best interest visitation should occur at a level that the child is requesting. When a child does not wish to visit with a parent the case worker should explore the child's reasoning and determine if there is a course of action that would help the child to feel more comfortable re-engaging in visitation with the parent. As determined appropriate by the Child and Family Team, family therapy for the parent and child may be offered as a case plan service to develop or enhance the parent/child relationship when visitation supports the permanency plan.

Foster parents are expected to provide emotional support to children who are experiencing ambivalence about their parents, being mindful that even when a child is angry at a parent or upset, they still love them and may change their mind about contact. Additionally, the Child and Family Team may require that the child participate in visits with the parent even if the child indicates they do not want to visit and the foster parent should provide support in these

instances without making negative statements to the child about the decision to visit.

- 3. The child's school and after-school activity schedule Stability in all activities should be maintained whenever possible. Children shall not miss school for regularly scheduled parental visits. Unless it is determined to be unsafe the foster parents should invite parents to attend the child's school and after-school activities in addition to their other scheduled visitation.
- 4. The child's emotional well-being The child's reactions to visits, both positive and negative, should be considered when determining the frequency and duration of visits. However, a child's negative reactions, before, during or after a visit, does not necessarily mean that the parent did something wrong and should not be a sole determinant to reduce visitation. When a child has negative reactions during visits the case worker should attempt to determine if it is a normal response to separation or if it suggests a problem in the visiting situation or the parent – child relationship. Research has shown that when children have strong reactions during visits or in the foster home increasing the frequency and consistency of visits can actually reduce these behaviors improving child well-being and placement stability. Additionally, foster parents should provide emotional support to children before, during and after visits to help children adjust and help nurture a positive co-parenting relationship with the birth parent. When foster parents effectively co-parent with birth parents the child experiences less loyalty conflicts, which reduces their anxiety and negative behaviors in the foster home.
- 5. Timing and duration that supports natural parenting activities Visits should be scheduled at a time and duration that will support natural parenting activities such as meal preparation, nap times, home work time, etc. If the visit interferes with a child's regular daily activities the case worker should consider how the parent may be incorporated into that activity during visitation.
- 6. Parent's and Foster Parent's Schedules Visits should be coordinated with the parent's and foster parent's schedules, whenever possible. The Agency should provide the foster parents with a minimum of 48 hours notice prior to any changes to an existing visitation, so foster parents may also have an opportunity to plan their schedules, but an initial visitation will need to occur on more of an emergent basis. When there are scheduling conflicts that cannot be resolved the case worker should consult with the Child and Family Team to determine if others involved with the family can assist.
- 7. The Permanency Plan When the permanency plan is reunification the visitation plan should change over time, depending on the parent's progress towards enhancing parental capacities, ideally increasing in length and requiring more responsibility on the part of the parent to care for their child. When the plan changes to termination of parental rights consideration should be given to continuing connections with parents and important individuals after

the closing of the case. If there will be no further contact with the parent the visitation plan should include titration down and a final "goodbye" visit.

- E. Other Forms of Contact: Family engagement and visitation can occur in many forms including in-person, Skype/FaceTime, telephone, text, email, social media, or letters. In person visits should be scheduled whenever possible. In person visits should be supplemented with additional forms of contact based on the child's needs, age and developmental level. These additional forms of contact should not replace in person visits, but should be used to increase the parent's engagement with their child. When in-person visits are not possible or appropriate, other forms of family engagement and visitation should be implemented.
- F. Location: Visits should occur in the least restrictive, most home-like environment that is safe for the child. When determining the location of a visit the case worker will take into consideration the identified danger threats, the wishes of the child/parent/foster parent, how the location can mitigate the danger threat and how the location encourages natural parent – child interactions and offers opportunity for the parent to develop or practice parenting skills. Visits may occur in the parent's home, the foster home, the community, the Family Engagement Center or the CPS Office.

Foster parents are encouraged to facilitate visitation in their own homes and during outside activities. If a foster parent is interested in expanding visitation to include birth parents in outside activities or moving visitation within their own home, they should speak with the case worker for prior approval.

G. Transportation to visits: Whenever possible, the Individualized Family Engagement and Visitation Plan will be developed to accommodate the foster parent's schedule, allowing them to transport the child to visits on an ongoing basis and facilitate visits with the birth parents. While foster parents are expected to transport children to all visits and other activities, other individuals involved in the child's care, such as the birth parents, relatives/fictive kin who are not the placement, members of the child and family team, etc., may also be considered when making transportation arrangements for family engagement and visitation time. Utilizing agency staff to transport children to and from visitation with their family can negatively impact the co-parenting relationship between birth parents and foster parents, as visitation is an important opportunity for the foster parents to engage with birth families. Additionally, the child may see the foster parent as being unsupportive of the parent-child relationship when they are not transporting to visits on a regular basis. Agency staff may be available to transport children on a limited, case-by-case basis. Please contact the case worker directly to request transportation assistance.

Birth parents and family members who will be transporting the child for visits must provide their own car seat if the child's age and size so warrant. Parents must comply with state laws including state law for child restraints.

#### Fostering Relationships through Visitation

- H. Holidays: Holidays are special family times for both foster and birth families alike. Whenever possible, the Agency will attempt to reschedule routine visits with the family to reasonably accommodate the schedule of the foster family. Usually, such visits will be scheduled on a non-holiday day. Non-routine visits will not be scheduled for holidays without the consensus of the foster family and unless no other accommodation can be made.
- I. Evening Visits: Based on varied schedules of birth parents and foster parents, visitation may fall outside normal business hours. Evening visitation may be requested to accommodate all parties for visitation.
- J. Foster Parent Cancelling Visits: Because visitation is so important for both children and parents, foster parents may not cancel a scheduled visit without first consulting with the case worker or visit coordinator to see if there are supports available to facilitate the visit. Whenever a scheduled visit is cancelled by the foster parent, a make-up visit will be scheduled as soon as possible.

Cancelling a visit when a child is ill should only occur when the child:

- Has an undiagnosed skin rash; or
- Has purulent drainage from eyes, nose, or ears; or
- Appears mildly ill and is unable to participate in normal visit activities;
- Has an undiagnosed fever of 100.4 degrees or higher, vomiting or diarrhea.

If the visits occur in the parental home the foster parent should consult with the case worker to determine if the sick child should attend their visit.

- K. If a foster parent believes a child will be endangered if released to the parent or family member for an off-site visit (i.e. the parent appears to be under the influence of alcohol/drugs, the parent does not have the proper child safety seat, the parent brings an individual who is not approved to visit, etc.), the foster parent may refuse to release the child, but must immediately consult with the child's case worker, supervisor or the on-call case worker at 775-785-8600.
- L. In instances where the foster family and case worker are unable to achieve consensus regarding any aspect of the foster parent's involvement in the visitation plans, the matter will be handled according to the dispute resolution procedure discussed in Section 11.
- 5.4 <u>Visitation Guidelines and Procedures</u>. The following is a list of tips to be utilized during visitation between the parent and child. Examples of appropriate interactions are focusing on child's needs, playing a game with the child, assisting with homework or an activity, reading a book together, and speaking to the child on their level.

#### Fostering Relationships through Visitation

- A. Keys to successful visitation:
  - 1. The case worker, foster parent, and birth parent/family member mutually agree upon the time and length of the visits. This will be established prior to the first visit.
  - 2. A child's ability to visit with their parent is critical to their emotional wellbeing and is a contributing factor to successful reunification. Birth parents can often be late or miss visitation for a variety of reasons. We understand this can be upsetting to the child and frustrating for the foster parent. Foster parents will be required to stay until approximately 15 minutes past the scheduled visit time. Foster parents are required to answer their phones during the scheduled visit time, so that WCHSA can contact them if the parent arrives for the visit. The foster parent, depending on the circumstances, may be requested to bring the child back to the office or Family Engagement Center for the remainder of the visit time.

Note: If the parent arrives late for the visit, but prior to the child being removed from the visit site the parent and child may visit for the remaining time of their scheduled visit. In instances where a parent is chronically late for visits the parent will be required to check in prior to the scheduled visit time allowing the Agency time to notify the foster parent of the parent's arrival prior to transporting the child to a visit. The case worker or visitation coordinator is responsible for making the determination when a parent is chronically late to visits and will develop a plan with the parent to outline under what conditions the early check in will discontinue.

- 3. Visitation is an important time for birth parent and child bonding. As the foster parent you can be a great support to both the birth parent and child by encouraging healthy interactions; ensuring that the child feels safe and secure during visitation; and maintaining boundaries with the birth parent if they begin to venture into visitation that no longer seems productive or could be perceived as unsafe for the child.
- 4. The foster parent is expected to communicate information to the case worker during monthly contacts about how visitation is going, both the positives, as well, as any concerns that they may see during visitation. We encourage the foster parents to provide feedback to parents in a thoughtful, non-judgmental and supportive manner during visitation with the birth parent. If the foster parent is uncomfortable providing this feedback, a foster parent mentor or assigned staff may be able to provide support and guidance. Safety concerns must be reported to the case worker and/or FEC staff immediately.
- 5. Negative comments or discussion of the court case, case worker, or related matters such as visitation restrictions should be avoided during visitation, especially when such conversations are upsetting to the child. Foster

#### Fostering Relationships through Visitation

parents are encouraged to help shift the focus of the visit back to the parent-child interaction.

- 6. The visiting person is the only person who may be present during the visit unless the child's case worker has previously authorized the presence of others and communicated the permission to the foster parent.
- 7. If a foster parent suspects that the visitor is showing signs of being under the influence of alcohol or drugs they may contact the case worker or agency representative to determine the appropriateness of the person to visit. The judgment of the person supervising the visit will determine if the visitor appears under the influence to the point that visiting could cause a safety concern for the child. It is important to note that being under the influence of alcohol or drugs does not, in and of itself, constitute cause to terminate the visit.
- 8. The foster parent should discuss the rules of their home with the birth parents prior to allowing the birth parents to visit in their home and the birth parent must respect those rules or in-home visitation may cease to be an option for that family.
- 9. If foster parent has any issues or concerns during a visit in their home, they should contact the assigned case worker and/or supervisor. If it is emergent, please contact the on-call case worker at (775) 785-8600.

#### SECTION 6 – DISCIPLINE

6.1 <u>Discipline.</u> The contractor, staff, and adult residents of the home shall promote selfcontrol and discipline through wholesome example, positive guidance, redirection of the child's behavior, and setting clear-cut limits on behavior.

Children who experience separation from and loss of their families often go through a grieving process and a period of acting-out. The loss of family coupled with what for most children is an entirely new set of life experiences (from new foods to different sleeping accommodations to new playmates to changing schools) also contribute to acting-out behaviors. Often the acting-out occurs not at the beginning of the placement during the "honeymoon period" but well after the time the foster parent may have believed the child had become acclimated to the home. The foster parent should expect a temporary period of acting out and should not respond with extreme disciplinary measures.

The foster parent is encouraged to consult with the child's case worker, therapist, the assigned clinician or licensing worker for strategies to deal with unacceptable behavior.

- 6.2 Aims of Discipline. Pursuant to NAC 424.515, the aims of discipline are threefold:
  - A. To help the child accept his or her responsibility to others;
  - B. To help the child realize that others also have responsibilities and privileges and;
  - C. To help the child accept the fact that there are unpleasant and difficult things which everyone must do at times.
- 6.3 <u>Prohibited Punishments.</u> The contractor, staff, or other persons associated with a foster home shall not, for any reason:
  - A. Threaten to subject or subject a child to verbal abuse, humiliate, threaten, or make derogatory remarks about the child or his family;
  - B. Threaten to subject or subject a child to any form of corporal punishment or other extreme discipline, which includes, but is not limited to:
    - Force feeding,
    - Biting,
    - Pushing,
    - Spanking, punching, slapping or hitting (with or without an implement),
    - Shaking or rough handling,
    - Isolation in a closed space (e.g., a closet or unlit or unventilated space),
    - Causing a child to remain in one position for an extended period.
    - Burning or scalding,
    - Tying down,
    - Placing hot sauce or soap on the tongue or in the mouth,
    - Taping the mouth, or
    - Lengthy physical chores inappropriate to the child's stage of development.

- C. Threaten to remove the child from the foster home;
- D. Threaten a child with the loss of love of any person;
- E. Threaten a child with punishment by a deity;
- F. Threaten to deny or deny food, shelter, medication, rest, or restrict the use of a toilet or other bathroom fixture as punishment;
- G. Threaten to subject or subject a child to any form of punishment by other children;
- H. Threaten to subject or subject a child to extended time-out periods or to timeout periods inappropriate to the child's individual stage of development.
- I. Threaten to deprive or depriving a child of visits with significant others in the child's life.
- J. Threatening to withhold or withholding the personal money of a child, clothing or gifts provided by the agency or parents, is prohibited. This excludes allowances provided by foster parent.
- K. The use of a mechanical restraint, chemical restraint, involuntary physical confinement or psychological coercion or confinement of a foster child as a form of discipline is prohibited. Involuntary physical confinement does not include the withdrawal of positive reinforcement for inappropriate behavior, including, without limitation, removal from participation in the normal routine or activities of the foster home or allowing the child to be alone voluntarily in a quiet, unlocked room.
- 6.4 <u>Corrective Measures</u>. Measures used in a foster home to correct a child's unacceptable behavior must be consistent with supportive, positive action. The QPI website (<u>www.qpinevada.com</u>) contains training opportunities on how to best manage a child's undesirable behaviors. Additionally, foster parents may use the following methods to correct a child's behaviors:
  - A. Restraining by holding a child who is physically aggressive in order to protect oneself, staff, the child, others, or property from harm.
  - B. Picking up a child, who is out of control and removing him from the setting. (This technique is appropriate only to younger children whose size and weight enable such action.)
  - C. Informing the child in a simple and positive manner what conduct is expected.

Discipline

- D. Restriction to the child's room or other area and/or withholding privileges such as watching television.
- E. Sitting with a child until he gains control of his behavior and can return to normal activities.
- F. Redirecting the child to a new or different activity.
- G. Praising, recognizing, and rewarding a child who behaves in the expected manner.

#### SECTION 7 – TRANSPORTATION

- 7.1 <u>Notice.</u> When a foster child is in need of transportation, the case worker or another Agency representative will provide as much notice as is possible, depending on the situation or immediacy of the circumstance. The foster parent is encouraged to assist the Agency if urgent or unusual circumstances exist.
- 7.2 <u>Mutual Respect and Cooperation.</u> Foster parents and case workers should work cooperatively in view of the demands on each and the needs of the child.
- 7.3 <u>Transportation Area.</u> Foster parents shall not be required to transport a child outside of Washoe County. This requirement shall not preclude a foster parent from transporting a child outside the County to necessary appointments if the foster parent is willing to do so.
- 7.4 <u>Medicaid Reimbursement for Transportation.</u> Foster parents who provide transportation to qualifying medical appointments for Medicaid-eligible children may be entitled to reimbursement of transportation costs. Foster parents should contact the Medicaid office directly, at (877) 638-3472, for information about claiming transportation expenses.
- 7.5 Reimbursement for Educational Transportation. Foster parents may be requested to transport a child to their school of origin while the school district arranges for transportation; or if school district transportation is not available. Reimbursement for transportation in these instances may be available through the Washoe County School District. The foster parent should contact the assigned case worker or the WCHSA Educational Liaison for assistance is obtaining reimbursement.
- 7.6 <u>Other Reimbursement for Transportation.</u> Washoe County compensates contracted foster parents with a higher rate than the regular state foster care rate. Washoe County does not otherwise reimburse for transportation within Washoe County. Transportation out of Washoe County may be eligible for reimbursement if it furthers the goals of the case plan and has been prior-authorized by the Agency.
- 7.7 <u>Required Transportation</u>. Transportation to counseling, family visitation, medical and dental appointments and treatment, and other appointments the case plan identifies as necessary shall be the scope of transportation expectations of foster parents.
- 7.8 <u>Vehicle Safety.</u> Any vehicle used for transportation shall be in safe operating condition.
- 7.9 <u>Vehicle Driver</u>. The driver of the vehicle must be in compliance with all relevant State and local laws.

- 7.10 <u>Automobile Insurance.</u> The foster parent shall maintain in force at all times automobile insurance as required by the Washoe County Risk Manager for any vehicle used to transport children in Washoe County custody.
- 7.11 <u>Child Restraint.</u> The foster parent is required to adhere to all applicable/current child restraint laws and requirements (<u>NRS 484B.157</u>). It is best practice to use child door locking mechanisms to prevent a child from exiting the vehicle in an unsafe manner.
- 7.12 <u>Front Seat.</u> No more than two persons for cars and three persons for trucks shall be permitted to occupy the front seat of the vehicle. No child under age 12 or less than 4 feet 9 inches in height shall occupy the front seat of a vehicle equipped with a passenger-side airbag.
- 7.13 <u>Supervision</u>. No child shall be left unattended in a vehicle.
- 7.14 <u>Standing.</u> No child shall be permitted to stand in the vehicle when being transported.
- 7.15 <u>Vehicle Loading and Unloading.</u> All loading and unloading shall be done from the curbside of the vehicle or in private driveways.
- 7.16 <u>First Aid Kit.</u> Each vehicle shall have a first aid kit available, which is stocked with supplies.
- 7.17 <u>Out of State.</u> Upon initial placement into the home, the case worker should provide a placement letter for the child, which authorizes the foster parent to transport the child outside of Washoe County for vacation purposes. The foster parent must notify the case worker at least one (1) week prior to departure for planned travel and as soon as possible for unplanned travel. The case worker may be required to obtain parental permission prior to authorizing a foster child to travel outside of Washoe County.

## Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes Complaints About a Foster Home

## SECTION 8 – COMPLAINTS ABOUT A FOSTER HOME

- 8.1 <u>Manner of Reporting.</u> Complaints to the Human Services Agency about a foster home may be received by telephone, letter, or personal interview.
- 8.2 <u>Written Report.</u> For each complaint received by the Human Services Agency, a written report will be made. A copy of the report will be forwarded to the licensing authority for the foster home.

#### 8.3 Agency Response.

- A. If the report is classified for investigation as child abuse or child neglect under NRS 432B, a CPS investigation will be initiated per Agency institutional abuse investigation policy. Pursuant to NAC 424.190, substantiated reports of abuse or neglect against a foster parent will result in the revocation or denial of renewal of the foster parent license. The foster parent may request a hearing regarding the revocation or denial of the renewal of his or her license by the licensing authority by submitting a written request within 14 days after the notice of revocation or denial was mailed.
- B. If the report is determined not to allege child abuse or neglect under NRS 432B, a determination will be made as to whether investigation by the Agency's Foster Care and Adoption Support (FCAS) unit, by the licensing unit or a joint investigation is warranted. If investigation occurs, in most cases the FCAS representative response to the report will be an unannounced visit to the foster home by a FCAS representative. Joint investigation with the licensing authority for the foster home may occur. In addition, the investigation process may include collateral interviews or requested office visits.
- C. As appropriate a foster care liaison will consult with the CPS worker and/or licensing worker and will discuss each complaint with the foster home operator regarding its impact on the operator's contract with the County.
- D. A report of the complaint will be maintained in the foster care record. Complainants will not be made known to the foster home operator.
- 8.4 <u>Judicial Complaints.</u> The operator of the foster home must provide the Agency with a written report within ten (10) calendar days of any complaint filed through the judicial process which involves the foster home operator, staff, or resident. This requirement includes lawsuits, arrests, traffic tickets, and other criminal or civil citations of the operator or any foster home employee or resident. Failure to do so is a violation of these Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes.

# Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes Complaints About a Foster Home

- 8.5 Violations of Contract. If the foster home is found to be in violation of licensing regulations and/or contract requirements, steps may be taken to remedy the situation as follows:
  - Upon the first violation the foster home may be given notice, in writing, of the violation and the means and date by which to remedy it.
  - If within two years a same or similar violation occurs, the foster home may be given a notice of violation and be given a formal written corrective action plan.
  - A third violation within a two-year period of time could result in action against a foster home license and/or contract.

### Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes Placement Sup

## **Placement Support Services**

### **SECTION 9 – PLACEMENT SUPPORT SERVICES**

9.1 <u>Purpose.</u> Support services are provided to enhance the well-being of children in foster care and to help maintain a child's placement in one foster home throughout their time in out-of-home care. Additionally, support services are utilized to assist the child's family in achieving their case goals, including reunification. The types of support services available are:

<u>Clinical Services Team</u>: A unit composed of licensed mental health professionals and clinical interns who coordinates care for children with higher needs in institutional and group care settings and provides short-term clinical services to children and families involved with the Washoe County Human Services Agency.

<u>Foster Parent Coaching and Support</u>: An assigned clinician provides education and coaching for foster parents to encourage empathetic caregiving and positive co-parenting with birth families. Additionally, this service can be provided to assist foster parents in coping with a child's negative behaviors to help preserve his placement in the home.

<u>Enhanced Family Foster Home</u>: For children and foster parents who meet the eligibility criteria, provides enhanced Foster Care training with a clinician, in-home support and a higher rate of \$40 per day to help the Foster Parent manage child behaviors and meet the needs of children who have higher needs than regular foster care youth, but are not necessarily appropriate for placement in treatment level care.

<u>Trauma Training</u>: Provides formal and informal education to foster parents on the impacts of trauma on children and families and strategies to effectively cope with trauma induced behaviors to support children and parents.

<u>Foster Parent Mentor</u>: Provides informal-or- support from a seasoned foster parent to provide additional support foster parents.

<u>Foster Parent Support Group</u>: Provides a forum for small group discussions facilitated by other foster parents to help support caregivers. During foster parent support groups additional training and babysitting may be available to ensure caregivers can fully engage in the group.

<u>Child Care/Head Start or Day Treatment</u>: Provides a structured setting for the child to help them gain socialization outside of the home.

<u>Online Foster Parent Education and Training:</u> The QPI Nevada Website (<u>www.qpinevada.com</u>) contains a library of approved foster parent online trainings and other helpful information for foster parents.

<u>Psycho Social Rehabilitation (PSR)</u>: Psychosocial rehabilitation helps children develop the social, emotional and intellectual skills they need in order to live happily with the smallest amount of professional assistance they can manage. Psychosocial rehabilitation uses two strategies for intervention: learning coping skills so that they

**Placement Support Services** 

are more successful handling a stressful environment and developing resources that reduce future stressors.<sup>20</sup> Children typically must be working with a therapist and meet eligibility criteria prior to this service being provided.

<u>Assess Other</u> Services: Physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, developmental services provided by Nevada Early Intervention Services (ages birth to 3 years) or Child Find Program (ages 3- school age), etc.

<u>Person Legally Responsible (PLR)</u>: Provides decision making concerning psychiatric services and medication management for children in the custody of the Washoe County Human Services Agency. Persons who perform the duties of a PLR must complete training, attend all psychiatrist appointments and complete necessary paperwork to appropriately approve and monitor the administration of psychotropic medication. The PLR may be the birth parent, the foster parent, a family member, the case worker or a specialized Agency PLR. Note: foster parents are still required to attend all of the child's psychiatrist appointments even if they are not the assigned as the PLR.

Intensive In-Home Services: A brief therapeutic intervention provided to children and families to assist in maintaining a child in their own home or to assist in returning a child to the family home after removal. Services are primarily provided in the home of the birth parents, but may also be provided in the foster home to help support the child's placement and well-being. Additionally, referrals for long-term therapeutic services may also be made through the intensive in-home services clinician.

<u>Placement Support Team (PST)</u>: A weekly meeting with members of management, the clinical services team and case workers to discuss cases where children are at risk of disruption. The team reviews interventions currently in place and brainstorms possible solutions to support children and families and to assist in maintaining the placement whenever possible. Although foster parents typically do not attend these meetings due to time constraints, members of the team will consult with foster parents to ensure their concerns are understood and addressed during the meeting.

<u>Respite and Babysitting.</u> Foster parents are able to utilize respite and babysitting services to assist them in having breaks away from care giving or to participate in case activities (team meetings, visitation, court hearings, etc.) for children placed in their home. Having caregivers that the child is not familiar with can have negative impacts on a child's ability to form healthy attachments. Therefore, foster parents should use respite and babysitting providers that are known to the child. The Washoe County Human Services Agency does not pay or reimburse foster parents for the cost of respite or babysitting. A full explanation of the Respite and Babysitting Policy can be reviewed in Addendum I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> NAMI – Psychosocial Treatments. (2017) Retrieved October 4, 2017, from https://www.nami.org/Learn-More/Treatment/Psychosocial-Treatments

#### **Placement Support Services**

<u>Wraparound in Nevada (WIN)</u>: A program through the Department of Child and Family Services to support children and their birth families with complex needs. A case manager is assigned through WIN and that person holds monthly child and family team meetings, meets with the child on a regular basis and provides other services as needed to assist the child and family. Services received through WIN may continue past the closure of the Child Welfare case, providing ongoing services and supports to the family. To be eligible for WIN the child must have a permanency plan other than long-term foster care and must have a Medicaid determination of Seriously Emotionally Disturbed (SED) completed by their therapist.

<u>Treatment Services</u>: These are a variety of services, including Medicaid treatment providers, which will assist the foster child in specific goals. They may include day-treatment, individual, family, and group therapy, psychological assessments, and psychiatric assessment and medication management.

<u>Independent Living Program (ILP)</u>: All youth aged 14 and over are expected to be involved in an independent living plan in addition to the case plan related to the family. Foster parents are expected to actively assist in independent living evaluations and programming for youth in their homes.

<u>Tutoring</u>: Provides additional educational services to help the child be more successful in school. Tutoring may be available through the child's school, Fit Learning <u>https://fitlearners.com/</u>, or the Sierra Association of Foster Families (SAFF) www.educatefosteryouth.org.

#### 9.2 Accessing Support Services

- A. If a foster parent becomes aware of challenges presented by the child or of trends that could result in a disruption of the child's placement, the foster parent IS REQUIRED TO discuss these concerns with the child's case worker and the foster parent's agency liaison as soon as possible.
- B. Foster parents may request services to support them in their role as foster parents or to assist with a specific child in their care by contacting the child's case worker or the foster parent's agency liaison.
- C. A Placement Support Team (PST) meeting may also be arranged to review the status of the case and attempt to identify potential remedies to the concerns. The PST is composed of Agency staff, including management, supervisors, clinicians and case workers. During the PST meeting the circumstances of the case are discussed to develop a list of potential services and supports for the foster home to help stabilize the child's placement. After the meeting a staff person is designated to follow up with the foster parent with service recommendations and to ensure the services are working as intended.

**Placement Support Services** 

D. Foster Parents are required to work cooperatively with support services that are provided to foster children or the foster family. Placements shall not be refused due to support services being part of the child's case plan. Any complaints or disputes about support services shall be addressed through the Program Requirements Dispute Resolution Process outlined in Section 11.

#### SECTION 10 – RECORD KEEPING

- 10.1 <u>Records</u> shall be maintained and updated on each child as information becomes available.
- 10.2 <u>Placement Record.</u> The foster parent shall make a record of placement maintained in a marked file folder or binder and kept in a location of the home that allows the records to remain CONFIDENTIAL. Placement records shall include:
  - Date and hour placed;
  - The child's full legal name;
  - The child's preferred name;
  - Gender which the child identifies;
  - Birth date, place of birth;
  - Name of worker placing child;
  - Reason for placement;
  - Father's name, address, home telephone and business telephone;
  - Mother's name, address, home telephone and business telephone;
  - Health problems.
- 10.3 <u>Medical Records</u>. The foster parent shall keep a record of all medical, dental and therapeutic appointments as well as any medications, both over-the-counter, prescription and psychotropic medications for each child on the forms identified below. Forms mentioned in this section may be found at form available online at <u>https://www.washoecounty.us/hsa/childrens\_services/foster\_care/foster\_care\_forms/index.php</u> or from the child's case worker. (N.A.C. 424.560 and 424.720). The foster parent should return the completed medical forms, to include Medical/Dental Forms, Over-the-Counter (OTC) Medication Administration Log (HSACS 597) and Prescription Medication (including psychotropic medications) Administration Log (HSACS 590) by the 5<sup>th</sup> business day of the following month either by email to <u>ssunity@washoecounty.us</u> or through USPS to the worker's attention. Alternately, the foster parent may also submit these forms to the case worker during the monthly home visit.
  - Medical/Dental/Therapeutic Appointments: Documentation of all medical/dental/therapeutic appointments shall be maintained by the foster parent on the Medical/Dental Form. The foster parent is responsible for maintaining a copy of this form in the child's medical record and providing a copy to the child's next placement to ensure the next caregiver is aware of the child's medical needs.
  - Consent to Administer Over the Counter and Prescription (non-psychotropic) Medication: The foster parent should obtain the Over-the-Counter / Prescription (non-psychotropic) Medication Consent (HSACS 598) from the placing case worker authorizing administration of over-the-counter drugs and all nonpsychotropic prescription medications at the time of placement. A new Over-the-

Counter / Prescription (non-psychotropic) Medication Consent (HSACS 598) should be obtained for each new foster placement. When initially completing the form, the placing case worker should consult with the parent to determine which OTC medications may be given to a child, taking into consideration any allergies the child may have, potential medication interactions, etc. All medications that could reasonably be needed by the child should be consented to, unless there is a contraindication for use of that medication or the parent does not wish to consent. The parent or case worker must initial each medication the foster care provider has consent to administer, listing only ingested medications and prescription topical medications (no need to list OTC cortisone cream, or antifungal creams unless they are being prescribed by a physician). A new form does not need to be completed as medication changes occur; the foster parent may simply ask the case worker or the parent to add new prescriptions or OTC medications to the form with a date and initials. This form must be retained in the child's medical record at the foster home and provided to the case worker for inspection upon request.

The foster care provider should only administer OTC or prescription medications that are approved by the parent or case worker on the consent form. Exception: If an emergency arises, the foster care provider may begin administering an over-the-counter or prescription (non-psychotropic) medication immediately without written consent by the parent/guardian as long as the medical provider believes that waiting until written consent is obtained could be harmful to the child. The foster care provider must follow up with the case worker or parent as soon as possible, but no later than the next business day, to obtain written consent (the case worker must be notified of this even if the parent provides consent). An example of this would be a child with an ear infection, conjunctivitis, strep-throat, etc. needed to begin treatment on a weekend or after hours. The foster care provider may also contact the after-hours number at 785-8600 if they have questions or to obtain verbal consent. However, written consent from the parent or case worker must still be obtained as outlined above.

In instances where a treatment level home has policies in place that requires them to obtain their own consent form, the case worker should complete the treatment provider's consent form in addition to the Over-the-Counter / Prescription (non-psychotropic) Medication Consent (HSACS 598)

Consent to Administer Psychotropic Medications: Children who are in the custody
of the WCHSA and who require psychiatric care must have a court appointed
Person Legally Responsible (PLR) to make psychiatric decisions, schedule
psychiatric appointments and provide consent to administer psychotropic
medications. The PLR may be the parent, a family member, the foster parent, the
assigned case worker or an agency PLR. The PLR and the foster parent are
required to attend the child's psychiatric appointments to provide the psychiatrist
with accurate information about the child.

The foster parent will dispense psychotropic medications to the child as directed on the Psychotropic Medication Record and Informed Consent for Foster Children (HSACS 546). When there are changes to a child's prescription medication the PLR is required to complete a new Psychotropic Medication Record and Informed Consent (HSACS 546) reflecting the change and providing a copy of the updated consent to the foster parent.

- Logging Over-the-Counter (OTC) Medications: The foster parent will log the administration of OTC medications at the time of administration on the Over-the-Counter (OTC) Medication Administration Log (HSACS 597). Administration of non-prescription, topical, OTC medication does not need to be logged. The foster parent is responsible for maintaining a copy of this form in the child's medical record and submitting to the Agency by the 5<sup>th</sup> business day of the following month.
- Logging Prescription Medication, Including Psychotropic Medication: The foster parent will log the administration of prescription medications, including psychotropic medications, on the Prescription Medication (including psychotropic medications) Administration Log (HSACS 590). The foster parent is responsible for maintaining a copy of this form in the child's medical record and submitting to the Agency by the 5<sup>th</sup> business day of the following month.
- 10.4 <u>School Records.</u> The foster family shall retain the child's report cards and any other significant school reports. The foster parent shall provide these school reports to the child's case worker on a monthly basis or sooner if there are educational needs that should be addressed. It is also recommended that the foster family maintain a file containing samples of the child's school projects so that the child will have reminders from his school experience that he can look back on in later life. School records, including school pictures, should accompany the child when he leaves the foster home.
- 10.5 <u>Life books, Photos, and Videos.</u> The foster parent is encouraged to maintain a file of photographic and written descriptions of experiences from the child's life so that the child will have reminders from his childhood that he can look back on in later life. Life books, some photos, and some videos (if available) should accompany the child when he leaves the foster home.
- 10.6 <u>Other Records.</u> The foster parent may be asked to maintain other records such as the Children's Behavioral Checklist from time to time on a particular child. Such records should be turned in to the Agency as directed.
- 10.7 <u>Records Retention</u>. Each record, which does not accompany the child upon the child's removal, shall be kept available at the foster home for two years after the child's departure from care.
- 10.8 <u>Records Destruction</u>. Records that contain confidential information shall be destroyed by shredding or burning.

#### SECTION 11 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- 11.1 Disputes between the child's case worker and the foster home over matters addressed in Sections 1 through 10 shall be dealt with in the following manner:
  - Level 1. The foster parent and child's case worker should discuss the disputed issue and identify potential solutions, which are mutually acceptable.
  - Level 2. If the case worker and the foster parent are unable to achieve consensus, the foster home liaison should meet with them. The role of the liaison is to serve as a mediator/facilitator attempting to help the foster parent and the case worker achieve consensus.
  - Level 3. If the matter cannot be resolved at Level 2, the Foster Care Support Supervisor and the case worker's Supervisor will meet with the foster parent and the case worker.
  - Level 4. If the matter cannot be resolved at Level 3, the Foster Care Support Coordinator and the case worker's coordinator will meet with the case worker and the foster parent.
  - Level 5. If the matter cannot be resolved at Level 4, the Division Director will meet with the case worker and the foster parent. The decision of the Division Director will be final.

## Quality Parenting Standards for Foster Homes Children with Extraordinary Needs

#### SECTION 12 – CHILDREN WITH EXTRAORDINARY NEEDS

12.1 <u>Philosophy</u>. Some children in foster care may demonstrate extraordinary physical or behavioral needs for care that are well beyond the needs of other foster children. Extraordinary needs are those needs that require extraordinary time, expense, and training on the part of the foster parent. The extraordinary need is a recurring or ongoing, professionally diagnosed medical, psychiatric, educational, or social need. If a foster child is assessed by the Agency to have special needs, the Agency may provide services to the child in the home, which may include an increased foster care reimbursement rate.

#### 12.2 Procedure.

- A. Usually, the request for an extraordinary needs evaluation should be made before accepting placement of the child; though circumstances exist wherein the child's special needs do not emerge until after placement of the child. If a foster parent believes a child has special care needs, the foster parent should request an evaluation by the case worker.
- B. The case worker will complete an evaluation using the Agency's special needs foster child evaluation criteria. The foster parent may be asked to provide written documentation of the child's special need.
- A. The case worker's evaluation will be reviewed by the extraordinary needs rate team to determine eligibility for additional services and the amount of the extraordinary needs rate. If approved, the foster care payment will be increased by the amount approved.
- B. If the foster parent disagrees with the decision of the team, the foster parent may request review by the Coordinator. The decision of the Coordinator is final.
- E. <u>Criteria.</u> The following criteria will be utilized in determining the extent of the child's special needs.

#### SECTION 13 – ISSUES NOT ADDRESSED IN THIS PUBLICATION

13.0 Issues not addressed. Any areas of practice expectations not addressed in this document are held to the established "best practice" guidelines defined in the manual, "Caring for Our Children: National Health and Safety Performance Standards; Guidelines for Early Care and Education Programs, Third Edition" published in joint collaboration with the American Journal of Pediatrics, the American Public Health Association, and the National Resource Center for Health and Safety in Child Care<sup>21</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> American Academy of Pediatrics, American Public Health Association, National Resource Center for Health and Safety in Child Care and Early Education. 2011. *Caring for our children: National health and safety performance standards; Guidelines for early care and education programs*. 3rd Edition. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; Washington, DC: American Public Health Association. Also available at http://nrckids.org.

### **Respite & Babysitting Policy**

### ADDENDUM I RESPITE AND BABYSITTING POLICY

#### Approved Alternative Care for Licensed Foster Parents

- A. <u>Purpose</u>. To provide guidance, direction and parameters for licensed family foster homes (including licensed relative homes) in selecting an appropriate alternative care provider when the licensed foster parent needs assistance in caring for a foster child.
- B. <u>Responsibilities of Licensed Foster Parent</u>. The responsibilities of licensed foster parents in selecting an alternative care provider include:
  - 1. Ensuring that the needs of the child are met and that the child is in a safe environment at all times;
  - 2. Selecting an alternative care provider that best fits the needs of each child and situation; and
  - 3. Selecting an alternative care provider that has the ability and training to meet the special needs and medical needs of the child.

Note: Whenever possible, the foster parent should use an alternative care provide that the child knows.

- C. <u>Supervision of Foster Children</u>. The alternative care provider must meet the requirements for supervising the child, taking into account their unique special needs, as set forth in NAC 424.505:
  - 1. Minors shall not supervise foster children unless approved by the child's case worker.
  - 2. Foster children must be given supervision appropriate to their age and maturity.
  - 3. Foster children shall not supervise or baby-sit other children unless approved by the foster child's case worker.
  - 4. Children shall always be supervised by an adult when in or around a pool.
  - 5. Adults shall not allow themselves to be distracted by daily activities.
- D. Categories and Requirements for Alternative Care Providers
  - 1. <u>Babysitter</u>. A babysitter is a mature, responsible person who provides occasional, short-term care (not to exceed six hours or be overnight) for a foster child in the home of the licensed foster parent. Selection of a babysitter must take into consideration the number and ages of children to

**Respite & Babysitting Policy** 

be supervised, the length of time, special needs of the children and the skills of the babysitter to address the identified needs. The following provides further direction:

- a. A babysitter must be at least 16 years of age. The foster parent must obtain permission from the child's case worker to use a babysitter under the age of 18;
- A babysitter under 18 years of age may not transport foster children. Babysitters age 18 and over must meet the Washoe County Human Services Agency' (WCHSA) minimum requirements for insurance coverage prior to transporting any foster child;
- c. Any babysitter, regardless of age, must be physically capable of taking care of and protecting the children, be capable of making sound decisions and able to recognize and avoid danger for the child; and
- d. The licensed foster parent must leave the babysitter an emergency phone number where he or she may be reached.
- 2. <u>Non-Primary Provider</u>. A non-primary provider is an alternative care provider who provides care to foster children in the home of the licensed foster parent. The difference between a babysitter and a non-primary provider is that a non-primary provider cares for the foster child on a routine basis for more than six hours or overnight.

All applicants must complete a background check that includes an annual Child Abuse and Neglect System (CANS) check. In addition to the following requirements, it is recommended that the non-primary applicant complete Cardio Pulmonary Resuscitation (CPR) training as well as four hours of advanced training annually. In order to obtain initial approval, the non-primary provider must:

- a. Be at least 18 years of age;
- b. Complete a Non-Primary Application Packet;
- c. Complete a criminal background check or obtain a valid child care work permit card;
- d. Provide five positive references;
- Provide copies of negative TB skin test or chest X-ray results per NAC 424.167(2);
- f. Complete six hours of training specific to child development and discipline (Child Care Licensing Training may be approved by WCHSA) and the required LGBTQ training for foster parents. Alternative-learning

**Respite & Babysitting Policy** 

methods may be approved or the training waived by WCHSA on a case-by-case basis due to extenuating circumstances; and

- g. Provide WCHSA a Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) background print out if the non-primary provider will transport foster children in the licensed foster parent's vehicle. If the non-primary provider will use his or her own vehicle to transport foster children then WCHSA' insurance requirements must be met and proof of insurance provided.
- 3. <u>Respite Care Provider</u>. A respite care provider is a person who may provide care in his or her own home as well as in the family foster home where the child resides. The respite provider must meet all the requirements listed under the "Non-primary provider" section. However, only the person actually providing the respite care must complete the training requirements. The following are requirements to provide care in the respite care provider's home:
  - a. Pass a yearly home safety inspection (for licensed day care providers the annual home inspection meets this requirement);
  - Provide written proof of Personal Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of \$100,000. This may be satisfied with a Homeowner, Condominium Owners, or Renters insurance policy, or any policy providing similar coverage;
  - c. Complete background clearances on all members of the household 18 years of age or older; and
  - d. Provide proof that the provider and each member of the household over the age of 18 are free from active tuberculosis.
- 4. <u>Licensed Foster Parent</u>. A licensed foster parent may provide babysitting, respite and non-primary care to other foster children outside of his or her home. The foster care licensing case worker must be consulted for issues concerning compliance with the license e.g., capacity limits. For assistance in locating a licensed foster parent for respite services contact the foster care liaison. The following are restrictions on licensed foster parents care:
  - A licensed foster parent may provide alternative care for a maximum of four children and a maximum of fourteen consecutive days unless approved by WCHSA;
  - b. A foster parent must receive the approval of the licensing case worker if the care is to be overnight and causes the number of children on the license to exceed limits. (The licensing case worker will designate the number of children allowed on a case-by-case basis); and

**Respite & Babysitting Policy** 

- c. A licensed relative foster caregiver may not provide non-primary or respite care for other foster children without the permission of the licensing case worker.
- 5. <u>Licensed Child Care Providers</u>. Licensed childcare provider may provide babysitting, respite and non-primary care to other foster children not in his or her home. If transporting foster children, all the conditions under non-primary care provider must be met.
- 6. <u>Child Care Facility Staff</u>. May provide care in the home of the licensed foster parent and must meet the requirements of non-primary provider.
- 7. <u>Kids Kottage (KK) Respite.</u> Short and long term respite care is available through the Kids Kottage. **Respite at KK should be utilized as a last resort after all other avenues have been exhausted.** The first choice for respite should be someone who knows the child and meets the clearance requirements outlined above. The second choice should be a foster home that can provide respite. Respite can be difficult for children in general and going to KK for respite can make it even more difficult on many children. The Agency's stance has not changed in that children should be in a family setting whenever possible.

Short-term respite at KK:

- Prior approval (72 hours) is required. Contact Victoria Bowers at 775-337-4484 or her supervisor to obtain approval. Do not contact Kids Kottage directly.
- Permitted for children of any age, both foster and biological children, for no longer than 4 hours.
- Foster parent relationship building through visitation is a key component to better outcomes for children and families including greater odds to reunify. Allowing foster families to utilize KK for all non-visiting children will allow foster families to individually focus and co-parent with each family.
- Allowed to encourage foster parents to attend all child meetings, including FSTs, CFTs, court hearings, etc.,
- The foster parent reimbursement is not affected if you utilize this shortterm respite to attend visitation, meetings, or court.
- Periodically, KK holds free "Camp KK" fun nights and other activities. These events offer children themed parties while offering foster parents a night out. Notifications about these Fun Nights will go out via flyers to foster parents.

Longer term respite at KK not to exceed 7 days:

 Requires prior approval at least one-week in advance. Contact Victoria Bowers at 775-337-4484 or her supervisor to obtain approval. Do not contact Kids Kottage directly.

## **Respite & Babysitting Policy**

- You must have already attempted to secure respite on your own. In priority, locating someone who knows the child is always first choice whether that home is licensed or not (case worker approval should be sought). Second, locating respite through the foster care liaison (775-337-4537) in another foster home. Ideally, children should be placed in a home that has some sort of relationship with the child and/or another foster home for periods of respite.
- You will not receive your daily reimbursement while the children are at Kids Kottage for longer-term respite. As you are aware normally you would take your daily reimbursement and pay the respite foster home yourself, but when Kids Kottage is being used for respite we will simply stop your reimbursement for the days the children are at Kids Kottage in order to directly pay Kids Kottage for this service.
- E. <u>Payment</u>. The foster parent seeking alternate care for the children in his or her home is responsible for paying for the cost of such care.